

Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences

Role of WRKY20 transcription factor and raffinose in plant defense responses upon *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113-mediated priming in *Arabidopsis thaliana*

Jonas Kjellin



Independent project/ Department of Plant Biology & Forest Genetics, SLU , ISSN1651-5196 Nr 133 Uppsala 2012

Role of WRKY20 transcription factor and raffinose in plant defense responses upon *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113-mediated priming in *Arabidopsis thaliana*

Jonas Kjellin

Supervisor:	Dr. Sarosh Bejai, Department of Plant Biology and Forest Genetics, SLU
Assistant Supervisor:	Prof. Johan Meijer, Department of Plant Biology and Forest Genetics, SLU
Examiner:	Prof. Folke Sitbon, Department of Plant Biology and Forest Genetics, SLU

Credits: 15 hec Level: C Course title: Självständigt arbete I Biologi- Bachelor's Degree Course code: EX0689 Programme/education: Bachelor programme in Biotechnology

Place of publication: Uppsala Year of publication: 2012 Picture Cover: Priming of *A. thaliana* by *B. amyloliquefaciens* Independent project/ Department of Plant Biology & Forest Genetics, SLU ISSN: 1651-5196 Nr 133 Online publication: http://stud.epsilon.slu.se

Key words: Priming, Bacillus amyloliquefaciens, WRKY20, raffinose, salicylic acid, jasmonic acid, isoamylase

Abstract

Biocontrol through beneficial bacteria-mediated priming can promote plant growth and increase resistance to biotic and abiotic stress. Bacillus amyloliquefaciens strain 5113 has been identified as a promising candidate for priming by increasing stress resistance and promoting growth in oil seed rape (Brassica napus). Recent findings suggest that WRKY20 transcription factor and the oligosaccharide raffinose are involved in increased resistance upon B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113-mediated priming. The present study aimed to further elucidate the role of WRKY20 transcription factor in plant defense as well as the involvement of WRKY20 and raffinose in plant defense upon *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113-mediated priming. Also, the effect on plant starch metabolism upon priming was studied by GUS analysis of isoamylase (AtISA1, AtISA2 and AtISA3) expression in promoter+target::GFP/GUS transgenic plants. Role of WRKY20 transcription factor in plant defense was studied through gene expression analysis upon treatment with salicylic acid (SA) and methyl jasmonate (MeJA). In order to elucidate the role of WRKY20 and raffinose response to Pseudomonas syringae DC3000 infection in primed and non-primed Arabidopsis wrky20, rs2 and rs6 mutants and wild-type Col-0 was studied. WRKY20 was shown to be up-regulated by SA treatment and down-regulated upon MeJA treatment. The infection study revealed an increased resistance in primed wild-type Arabidopsis plants compared to non-primed while no priming effect could be seen for wrky20, rs2 and rs6 mutants. Based on these and previous findings, WRKY20 appears to function as regulator in the JA and SA dependent signaling pathways. Also, raffinose appears to be essential to increase plant resistance through B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113-mediated priming. GUS analysis of AtISA1::GFP/GUS, AtISA2::GFP/GUS and AtISA3::GFP/GUS showed a distinct up-regulation of AtISA1 in primed plants indicating an increased starch production. Taken together, this study suggests B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113 as a promising candidate for biological control.

Keywords: Priming, Bacillus amyloliquefaciens, WRKY20, raffinose, salicylic acid, jasmonic acid, isoamylase

Table of contents

Introduction	5
Beneficial bacteria-mediated priming	5
Plant defense and induced systemic resistance (ISR)	5
Bacillus amyloliquefaciens strain 5113	6
WRKY transcription factors and raffinose	6
Starch metabolism	7
Aim 7	
Material & Methods	8
General experimental procedures	8
Plant material and growth conditions	8
Priming with <i>B. amyloliquefaciens</i> strain 5113	
Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato DC3000	8
Quantitative real-time PCR	8
GUS-staining	9
Response to pathogen infection in <i>wrky20</i> , <i>rs2</i> and <i>rs6</i> mutants	and wild-type Col-0 of Arabidopsis9
Time course study of WRKY20 expression in Arabidopsis wild-ty	/pe Col-010
AtISA1, AtISA2 and AtISA3 expression in Arabidopsis primed wi	ith <i>B. amyloliquefaciens</i> strain 511310
Results	11
WRKY20 expression in Arabidopsis is affected by hormonal trea	atments and feeding by generalist herbivore11
Bacillus amyloliquefaciens strain 5113-mediated priming increas	se resistance to <i>P. syringae</i> DC3000 infection in wild-
type Arabidopsis	
Priming with <i>B. amyloliquefaciens</i> strain 5113 inhibit <i>P. syri</i>	ingae DC3000 growth in wild-type and <i>wrky20</i>
Priming affects holting in Arabidonsis	13
Priming with Bacillus amyloliquefaciens strain 5113 triggers an u	up-regulation of starch production in Arabidopsis15
Discussion	16
WRKY20 and Raffinose play a key role in plant defense upon B	<i>amyloliquefaciens</i> strain 5113-mediated priming 16
Priming with B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113 up-regulates plant	t starch production19
Concluding remarks	
Acknowledgements	20
References	21

Introduction

Beneficial bacteria-mediated priming

Agriculture heavily relies on the use of pesticides and resistance breeding for disease control to reduce yield loss. Extensive use of pesticides is harmful to the environment and there is a growing demand for more sustainable and environmental-friendly methods of cultivation. Also, disease control through use of chemical pesticides and resistance breeding do not provide a broad spectrum defense. Instead, protection is only provided against a small group of or specific plant pathogens (Pieterse *et al.*, 2002). Beneficial bacteria-mediated priming of plants is a promising alternative to the conventional methods of plant disease control. Biological control through priming induce the plants own defense systems and thereby provide an increased resistance to a broad range of different biotic and abiotic stresses and in some cases promote plant growth (Zamioudis and Pierterse *et al.*, 2012).

Plant defense and induced systemic resistance (ISR)

During evolution, plants have developed several sophisticated methods to combat different kinds of stresses. A drastic, but effective method used by plants to stop microbial pathogen invasions is to sacrifice plants cells, causing necrosis at the site of infection, and thereby prevent further spreading of the pathogen. This process is known as the hypersensitive response (HR) and often involves recognition of pathogen avirulence proteins (*Avr*) by plant resistance genes (*R*) (Feys and Parker, 2000). Also, plants have complex signaling pathways which may increase the plants defense response systemically upon pathogen attack (Dong, 1998). These signaling pathways rely on the plant hormones salicylic acid (SA) or jasmonic acid (JA) and ethylene (ET). Which signaling pathway, SA-or JA/ET-mediated, becomes activated depends on the type of pathogen or stress the plant is subjected to (Ton *et al.*, 2002; Cheong *et al.*, 2002). Accumulation of SA is associated with systemic acquired resistance (SAR) which involves the activation of pathogenesis-related (*PR*) defense genes providing a broad-spectrum resistance (Ton *et al.*, 2002). The JA/ET signaling pathway is associated with plant wound response, e.g. herbivore attack, but has also been shown to induce defense related genes such as defensin *PDF1.2* upon necrotrophic pathogen attack (Hammond-Kosack and Parker, 2003).

Increased resistance through beneficial bacteria-mediated priming is often referred to as induced systemic resistance (ISR). ISR is elicited through an activation of parts of the plants own defense signaling pathways and thereby facilitating a more rapid activation of defense responses leading to an increased resistance (Van Loon *et al.*, 1998). However, many of the processes underlying ISR remain to be elucidated and the processes involved seem to be dependent on which bacterium is used for priming. As an example, ISR have primarily been studied and reported for different species and strains of *Pseudomonas* spp. and was for a long time believed to be SA independent. However, SA dependent ISR have been reported for several strains of *Bacillus* spp. (Kloepper *et al.*, 2004), indicating that the underlying processes of increased resistance through priming with beneficial bacteria are not universal.

Bacillus amyloliquefaciens strain 5113

ISR through beneficial bacteria-mediated priming has primarily been studied and reported for *Pseudomonas* spp. However, several *Bacillus* strains have also been shown to elicit an increased stress resistance in plants (Kloepper *et al.*, 2004). Bacteria of the genus *Bacillus* are rod-shaped soil-bacteria often found in the plant rhizosphere. *Bacillus* spp. are also endospore-forming which facilitates effective formulation and several commercial bio-control products have been developed (Schisler *et al.*, 2004). The present study focused on *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 which has been shown to be an effective colonizer of the roots of oil seed rape (*Brassica napus*), barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) and *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Reva *et al.*, 2004). In *B. napus*, root-treatment with *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 has been shown to trigger a systemic gene expression in leaves (Bejai *et al.*, 2009) and also increase resistance to several different fungal pathogens (Danielsson *et al.*, 2007). However, most of the molecular mechanisms involved in the increased resistance displayed by plants primed with *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 are still unknown.

WRKY transcription factors and raffinose

WRKY transcription factors have been shown to be involved in the regulation of many different plant processes, e.g. biotic defense (Dong et al., 2003), abiotic stress response (Cheong et al., 2002) and leaf senescence (Guo et al., 2004). For a long time the WRKY family was thought to be plant-specific but has now also been identified in the primitive eukaryote Giardia lamblia and the slime mold Dictyostelium discoideum (Zhang & Wang, 2005). In Arabidopsis, 74 transcription factors have been identified as members of the WRKY family (Projetti et al., 2011). The WRKY transcription factors are named after the WRKY domain, containing the heptapeptide WRKYGQK, at the N-terminal in all members of the family. Based on the number of WRKY domains and zink-finger-like motif characteristics the family is divided into three groups, I, II or III (Eulgem et al., 2000). WRKY TF's regulate gene expression by binding to W-boxes, (T)(T)TGAC(C/T), present in the promoters of many defense-related plant genes (Eulgem et al., 2000). Much general knowledge has been acquired about the WRKY family but the specific roles of many of the WRKY transcription factors remains to be elucidated due to the size of WRKY family and the diversity of process these transcription factors are involved in. However, a recent study have identified WRKY20, member of group I, as one of the key regulators of plant defense and resource allocation in Arabidopsis plants by regulating the signaling pathways of salicylic acid (SA) and jasmonic acid (JA) (Johansson et al., unpublished). In the same study, metabolomic profiles revealed that wrky20 mutants of Arabidopsis accumulate a significant amount of raffinose compared to wild-type Col-0 plants. Also, expression analysis showed an up-regulation of raffinose synthase 2 (RS2) in Arabidopsis plants primed with B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113 compared to non-treated plants. Raffinose and its precursor galactinol have been reported to play a key role in beneficial bacteriamediated enhanced plant tolerance against pathogens through JA signaling (Cho et al., 2010). Based on these findings, the role of WRKY20 and raffinose in plant defense upon B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113mediated priming was pursued in this study. Response to pathogen infection was studied by challenging primed and non-primed Arabidopsis wild-type Col-0 as well as wrky20 and raffinose synthase mutants (rs2 and rs6) with the hemibiotrophic pathogen *Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato* strain DC3000. The

Arabidopsis-*Pseudomonas syringae* interactions are well studied and have generated a greater understanding of many of the mechanisms underlying plant/pathogen interaction and defense responses (Quirino and Bent, 2003). Resistant plants show low levels of disease symptoms and prevent *P. syringae* multiplication by triggering a hypersensitive response at the site of infection. In susceptible plants no HR response is triggered and disease symptoms, like necrotic lesions and chlorosis, is displayed (Katagiri *et al.*, 2002). Infection by *P. syringae* DC3000 is primarily associated with a SA dependent defense responses (Demianski *et al.*, 2012), but elevated JA defense responses have also been shown to increase resistance (Pieterse *et al.*, 2002).

Starch metabolism

B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113-mediated priming has been observed to promote plant growth, but the underlying processes remain to be elucidated. However, increased plant growth might suggest an increased starch synthesis. In plants, starch is stored in the form of insoluble granules made up by amylopectin (typically ~75%) and amylose (Zeeman *et al.*, 2010). Starch is the primary plant storage carbohydrate and the main component of most crops harvested for human and animal consumption. Therefore, the effect of *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113-mediated priming on starch metabolism was studied by studying gene expression of the isoamylases *AtISA1*, *AtISA2* and *AtISA3*. *AtISA1* is associated with synthesis of amylopectin while *AtISA3* is involved in starch degradation. *AtISA2* is non-catalytic but has been shown to be co-expressed with both *AtISA1* and *AtISA3* (Li *et al.*, 2007)

Aim

The present study aimed to elucidate the processes involved in and effects of priming with *B*. *amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113. Based on earlier studies, the following questions were formulated:

- 1. What is the role of WRKY20 in plant defense?
- 2. Are *WRKY20* and raffinose involved in plant defense upon priming with *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113?
- 3. Is starch metabolism affected by priming with B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113?

Material & Methods

General experimental procedures

Plant material and growth conditions

Seeds of Arabidopsis wild-type Colombia (Col-0) and mutants were grown in pots at 23°C in a growth chamber under a 16/8-h photoperiod with 60% humidity and a light intensity of 30 μ mol m⁻² sec⁻¹. The Arabidopsis mutants *wrky20* (N653842), *rs2* (N613663) and *rs6* (N676927) were procured from Nottingham Arabidopsis Stock Center, UK. The seeds of *AtISA1*::GFP/GUS, *AtISA2*::GFP/GUS and *AtISA3*::GFP/GUS were kindly provided by Dr. Ling (Iowa State University, US). Seeds were sterilized by washing with 10% commercial bleach solution and a few drops of TWEEN 20 for 15 minutes, washed with 70 % ethanol for ~1 min, followed by repeated rinsing with sterile water. Plants were grown on 0.5 x MS-media (Murashige and Skoog, 1962) in petri dishes at 22°C under a 16/8-h photoperiod.

Priming with B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113

All studies on effects of priming were performed with *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 spore suspension $(1x10^7/ml)$. Preparation of spore suspension was carried out by growing *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 in LB medium for three days and heat shock treatment was given at 70°C for 10 minutes. The spore suspension was quantified by performing a serial dilution. For plants grown in pots, priming was performed by root drench inoculation of plants with 1 ml of $1x10^7/ml$ spore suspension. Seedlings grown in Petri dishes were primed by applying 20 or 2 µl spore suspension $(1x10^7/ml)$ per root-tip.

Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato DC3000

Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato strain DC3000 was used in all infection experiments. Bacteria were grown on Kings B medium (10 g Proteose peptone #2, 1.5 g anhydrous K_2HPO_4 , 15 g glycerol and 5 ml sterile 1 M MgSO₄ per liter of H₂O). Bacteria suspension of $1x10^6$ colony forming units (CFU)/ml was made in 10 mM MgCl₂. Challenge inoculation was performed two days after priming with *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 and were carried out with a needleless syringe into two fully expanded leaves of three-week-old plants.

Quantitative real-time PCR

Quantifications and expression analysis was performed using Applied Biosystems 7000 Real-Time PCR system using the following parameters: 2 min at 50°C, 10 min at 95°C, 40 cycles of 15 s at 95°C and 1 min at 60°C in 96-well optical reaction plates. qRT-PCR reactions (20 µl) included 1X MaximaTM SYBR/ROX master mix (Fermentas), supplemented with 5 µM primers and 5 µl cDNA as template. Primers for *WRKY20* (At4g26640), *Ubiquitin5* (At3g62270), *P. syringae* (16S NCBI GeneID: 1182221) and *LOX2* (At3g45140) are summarized in table 1. Triplicates of each sample were used for each analysis and negative template controls were included for each primer pair (reaction mixture without cDNA). Melting curve analysis was performed to ensure identity of amplicons and specificity of the reactions. The data were analyzed by the comparative C_T method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001) with PCR efficiency

correction. PCR efficiency was determined based on the slope of the standard curves. Gene expression levels obtained by qRT-PCR were normalized using the *UBQ5* as endogenous reference and mean standard error was calculated according to Schmittgen and Livak (2008).

	Forward	Reverse
UBQ5	5'-CGATGGATCTGGAAAGGTTC-3'	5'-ACTCCATGTTCTGCGGTCTT-3'
WRKY20	5'-TCCGACTTCGTTTTTGGAAT-3'	5'-CGAGGCTTGAACAAAGAACC-3
P. syringae 16S	5'-CAGCTCGTGTCGTGAGATGT-3'	5'-CACCGGCAGTCTCCTTAGAG-3'
LOX2	5'-CTTACCCGCGGATCTCATC-3'	5'-AGCTCCACAGGTTGCGTTAG-3'

Table 1. List of primer sequences used in the study.

GUS-staining

Each 1.0 ml staining solution contained: 830 μ l H₂O, 100 μ l 1 M NaPO₄ pH 7.0, 20 μ l 0.5 M EDTA, 10 μ l 10% Triton X-100, 20 μ l 50 mM K₃Fe(CN)₆ and 20 μ l 0.1 M X-Gluc (diluted in N, N-Dimethylformamide). The seedlings were immersed in staining solution and incubated at 37°C in darkness overnight. Staining solution was removed and the samples were washed repeatedly with 70% ethanol until the tissue had cleared. Photographs were taken using a Canon EOS 30D digital camera.

Response to pathogen infection in *wrky20*, *rs2* and *rs6* mutants and wild-type Col-0 of Arabidopsis

The experiment was performed with two-week old wild-type Arabidopsis ecotype Col-0 and *wrky20, rs2* and *rs6* mutant lines. Priming was carried out by root drench inoculation with 1 ml of *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 spore suspension $(1x10^7/ml)$ for 18 wild-type Col-0, 20 *wrky20*, 16 *rs2* and 20 *rs6* plants. Also, 20 wild-type Col-0, 20 *wrky20*, 18 *rs2* and 20 *rs6* plants were kept untreated. Primed and non-primed plants were kept in separate trays to avoid cross-contamination of *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 treatment and were challenge inoculated two days after priming. Plants were challenge-inoculated on two leaves per plant with *P. syringae* strain DC3000 suspension using needleless syringe. Disease incidence and effect on plant development was recorded one week after infection. The inoculated leaves were collected and DNA was extracted using Automated Nucleic Acid Extraction, Mole Genetics, Norway. Quantification of *P. syringae* was performed with qPCR as described earlier using primers for *P. syringae* 16S region (Tab. 1) and a standard curve constructed from 0.1 ng up to 6.4x10⁻⁶ ng pure *P. syringae* DNA as template.

Time course study of WRKY20 expression in Arabidopsis wild-type Col-0

The experiment was set up to study the time course induction of WRKY20 expression in wild-type Arabidopsis (Col-0) after treatment with methyl jasmonate (MeJA), salicylic acid (SA), and feeding by second instar larvae of the generalist herbivore Spodoptora littoralis. Three-week old plants were sprayed with 30 µM MeJA and 1 mM SA and placed in separate chambers to avoid cross-contamination of the treatments. Samples were collected 0 h, 15 min, 30 min, 1 h, 3 h and 6 h after hormonal treatments. S. littoralis treatment was performed by placing one larva of the second instar stage on each plant. Larvae damaged leaf samples from two plants were pooled together and collected after 1 h, 3 h, 6 h and 24 h. For each time-point samples from water treated and non-damaged Col-0 plants were collected as controls including a 0 h sample. All samples were flash frozen with liquid nitrogen immediately after sampling and stored at -20°C. The samples were homogenized with Retsch[®] MM200 and RNA extractions were performed using E.Z.N.A.TM Plant RNA Mini Kit (Omega bio-tek) according to manufacturer's recommendation. cDNA was synthesized from 1 µg total RNA using Revert Aid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Scientific). Expression analysis of WRKY20 was performed by qRT-PCR as described earlier and the relative expression was calculated using UBO5 as endogenous reference. For samples subjected to feeding by S. littoralis, LOX2 was used as a positive control to ensure plant response to insect attack. See table 1 for primer sequences for UBQ5, WRKY20 and LOX2.

AtISA1, AtISA2 and *AtISA3* expression in Arabidopsis primed with *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113

Five one-week old seedlings of *AtISA1*::GFP/GUS, *AtISA2*::GFP/GUS and *AtISA3*::GFP/GUS were treated with 20 μ l *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 spore suspension (1x10⁷/ml) on each root tip and an equal amount of seedlings were kept untreated. Samples were collected one and five days after treatment and stained for GUS. The activity was repeated for *AtISA1*::GFP/GUS using the same procedure except that 2 μ l *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 spore suspension (1x10⁷/ml) was applied on each root tip. Samples from the repeated experiment were collected for GUS staining six days after treatment.

Results

WRKY20 expression in Arabidopsis is affected by hormonal treatments and feeding by generalist herbivore

Three-week old wild-type Col-0 plants were treated with MeJA, SA, or subjected to feeding by second instar larvae of generalist herbivore *S. littoralis*, to study the effect on *WRKY20* expression. Expression levels in treated plants were compared to *WRKY20* expression in mock treated plants. Both hormonal treatments and feeding by *S. littoralis* had an effect on *WRKY20* gene expression. MeJA treatment resulted in a 1-fold down-regulation after 15 min and a 2-fold after 30 min but then remained at a constant level up to 6 h post treatment (Fig. 1A). Upon SA treatment, *WRKY20* gene expression was up-regulated 2.25-fold after 3 h and 3-fold after 6 h (Fig. 1B). Feeding by *S. littoralis* did not affect the *WRKY20* expression during the first 6 h after initiation of feeding. However, a distinct 2-fold up-regulation was detected after 24 h of feeding (Fig. 1C). *LOX2*, a marker for JA signaling pathway and herbivory response showed an up-regulated expression upon feeding by *S. littoralis*. The expression of *LOX2* was up-regulated already after one hour and continued to increase for the rest of the time span of the study, except for a dip at 6 h (Fig. 1D). *LOX2* was still up-regulated after 6 h, as compared to the 0 h control, but the sample deviated from the overall trend of the other samples, probably due to deviating feeding rate of the larvae.



Figure 1. Relative gene expression of *WRKY20* calculated using *UBQ5* as endogenous reference, for plants treated with 30 µM JA (A), 1 mM SA (B) and subjected to feeding by *S. littoralis* (C). Up-regulation of *LOX2* expression in *S. littoralis* samples where included as a positive control for plant response to insect attack (D).

Bacillus amyloliquefaciens strain 5113-mediated priming increase resistance to *P. syringae* DC3000 infection in wild-type Arabidopsis

Untreated and primed Arabidopsis *wrky20, rs2, rs6* mutants and wild-type Col-0 plants were inoculated with *P. Syringae pv. tomato* strain DC3000. One week after inoculation, clear symptoms were observed in most of the leaves (Fig. 2). Spreading chlorosis and necrotic lesions could be seen on inoculated leaves for all lines and treatments. Non-primed wild-type Col-0 and *rs6* mutants as well as both primed and non-primed *rs2* mutants showed the most severe symptoms. Primed wild-type Col-0 and *rs6* mutants as well as both primed and non-primed *wrky20* mutants appeared less affected by *P. syringae* DC3000 infection. Studying systemic symptoms, a clear priming effect was noticed for the wild-type Col-0 plants. Untreated Col-0 plants showed severe stress symptoms systemically while primed Col-0 plants appeared rather unaffected (Fig. 3). The results indicate that priming increases plant resistance to *P. syringae* in the wild-type Col-0. However, no priming effect could be seen for *wrky20, rs2* and *rs6* mutants. Systemic symptoms could be seen for both primed and non-primed *wrky20, rs2* and *rs6* mutants.



Figure 2. A representative selection of disease symptoms on inoculated leaves, one week after inoculation of *P. syringae* DC3000. A – Col-0 control, B – primed Col-0, C - *wrky20* control, D - primed *wrky20*, E - *rs2* control, F – primed *rs2*, G – *rs6* control and H – primed *rs6*.



Figure 3. Representative picture showing the difference in systemic symptoms, one week after inoculation of *P. syringae* DC3000, for primed and non-primed Col-0. Red arrows indicate inoculated leaves. In the two plants without red arrows, inoculated leaves were sampled prior to photographing.

Priming with *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 inhibit *P. syringae* DC3000 growth in wild-type and *wrky20* Arabidopsis

Quantification of *P. syringae* in the inoculated leaves showed a lower concentration in *wrky20*, *rs2* and non-primed *rs6* plants compared to the wild-type Col-0 plants (Fig. 4). Primed wild-type Col-0 had a slightly lower pathogen concentration (7.1 ng/ml) compared to non-primed (9.2 ng/ml). A similar priming effect could be seen for the *wrky20* plants with 0.7 ng/ml in primed plants compared to 3.7 ng/ml for the non-primed. No priming effect was detected for *rs2* plants but the concentration for non-primed (2.4 ng/ml) and primed plants (2.6 ng/ml) were relatively low compared to the concentration in other samples. Pathogen quantification in *rs6* plants showed a much higher concentration in the primed plants (37.1 ng/ml) compared to non-primed *rs6* (4.9 ng/ml) and all other samples.



Figure 4. Quantification of *P. syringae* DC3000 in inoculated leaves of primed (5113) and non-primed *wrky20*, *rs2* and *rs6* mutants and wild-type Arabidopsis.

Priming affects bolting in Arabidopsis

When disease incidence was studied, a considerable difference in number of bolting plants was noticed between the different lines and treatments. At four weeks from planting, plants from all lines and treatments had started to bolt, except for primed wild-type Col-0 (Tab. 2). The most striking difference was between primed Col-0 plants and primed *wrky20* plants (Fig. 5), where 95% of the *wrky20* plants compared to 0% of the primed wild-type Col-0 plants had started to bolt.



Figure 5. Representative plants of wild-type and *wrky20* Arabidopsis primed with *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 and challenged with *P. syringae* DC3000.

Table 2. wrky20, rs2 and rs6 mutants and wild-type Arabidopsis plants bolting one week after inoculation of P. syringae DC3000.

т.	No. of plants bolting	nts bolting
Line	Non-primed	Primed
Col-0	7(20)	0(18)
wrky20	14(20)	19(20)
rs2	11(18)	12(16)
rs6	14(20)	13(20)

Figures in parentheses indicate the total number of plants.

Priming with *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 triggers an up-regulation of starch production in Arabidopsis

Difference in expression of AtISA1, AtISA2 and AtISA3 was studied in primed and non-primed Arabidopsis seedlings using GUS staining of promoter+target::GFP/GUS fusions in transgenic plants. A clear difference in AtISA1 expression was seen between primed and non-primed seedlings (Fig. 6A and 6B). AtISA1 expression was detected in all primed samples compared to no expression in the control samples. This suggests that B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113mediated priming triggers an up-regulation of starch synthesis. Expression was primarily seen in the leaves, but was also detected in the roots in the samples treated with 20 µl spore suspension per root tip. AtISA1 plants primed with 2 µl spore suspension per root-tip showed a slightly lower expression in the leaves and no expression was detected in the roots (data not shown). AtISA2 expression was high in both roots and leaves (Fig. 6C and 6D) while AtISA3 expression was detected only in the leaves (Fig. 6E and 6F). No priming effect could be seen on the expression of AtISA2 and AtISA3.



Figure 6. Representative samples from GUS staining of *AtISA1*::GFP/GUS, *AtISA2*::GFP/GUS and *AtISA3*::GFP/GUS one day after treatment. Primed plants were treated with 20 μ I *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 spore suspension (1x10⁷/ml) per root-tip. A – *AtISA1*, B – primed *AtISA1*, C – *AtISA2*, D – primed *AtISA2*, E – *AtISA3*, and F – primed *AtISA3*

Discussion

WRKY20 and Raffinose play a key role in plant defense upon *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113-mediated priming

The time course study of WRKY20 gene expression upon hormonal treatments indicated that SA treatment triggers an up-regulation of WRKY20 expression, and JA cause a down-regulation. The results of the hormonal treatments correspond with Genevestigator data (Hruz et al., 2008) for WRKY20 (Fig. 7). Also, previous experiments have shown that wrky20 mutants accumulate more raffinose (Johansson et al., unpublished) which has been shown to be essential for JA-dependent defense responses (Cho et al., 2010). Based on the results of the present study combined with the results of previous studies, a hypothesis for the role of *WRKY20* as a regulator of JA and SA defense responses is formulated (Fig. 8A). Dependent on which signaling pathway is activated upon pathogen attack, WRKY20 is either up- or downregulated, and determines if SA-or JA-responsive defense genes are activated. Present data suggest that a SA response triggers an up-regulation of WRKY20 followed by activation of SA-responsive defense genes. Conversely, JA response down-regulates WRKY20 followed by an up-regulation of raffinose levels and activation of JA-responsive defense genes. However, in the time course experiment an up-regulation of WRKY20 was detected after 24 h of feeding by S. littoralis. Wounding of plants as well as herbivore attack are associated with JA mediated defense responses in plants (Dong, 1998) and up-regulation of WRKY20 expression after S. littoralis is therefore unexpected according to the hypothesis previously stated. It should be noted that the feeding experiment was performed in a small scale and more studies are needed to fully resolve the role of WRKY20 in plant defense signaling.

Down-regulated Dp-regulated		246 of 1626 i	perturbations fu	ulfilled the filter cr
Arabidopsis thaliana (1682)		Filter values for 🛑 A14G26640		
			no filter	0.05
		Log(2)-ratio	Fold-Change	p-value
" Hormone	H			
ABA + DMTU (20h) / solvent treated cell suspension samples (20h)	ш	-0.53	-1.44	0.008
ABA study 10 (20h) / solvent treated cell suspension samples (20h)		-0.57	-1.49	< 0.001
ABA study 7 (agb1-2 gpa1-4) / solvent treated guard cell samples (agb1		-0.57	-1.50	0.038
ABA study 7 (gpa1-4) / solvent treated guard cell samples (gpa1-4)		-0.37	-1.30	0.007
ABA study 8 (agb1-2 gpa1-4) / solvent treated leaf samples (agb1-2 gp		-0.69	-1.64	0.038
ABA study 8 (Col-0) / solvent treated leaf samples (Col-0)		-1.47	-2.75	< 0.001
ACC (1h) / mock treated seedlings (1h)		-0.29	-1.23	0.004
BL (30min) / mock treated seedlings (30min)		-0.27	-1.21	0.042
BL/H3BO3 (10d) / untreated cell culture samples		-0.60	-1.52	0.003
BL/H3BO3 (2d) / untreated cell culture samples		-0.59	-1.50	0.003
BL/H3BO3 (4d) / untreated cell culture samples		-0.61	-1.52	0.007
BL/H3BO3 (6d) / untreated cell culture samples		-0.47	-1.38	0.010
BL/H3BO3 (8d) / untreated cell culture samples		-0.56	-1.47	0.009
IAA study 4 (Sav-0) / mock treated seedlings (Sav-0)		-0.23	-1.17	0.045
IAA study 9 (Bay-0) / untreated seedling samples (Bay-0)		0.17	1.13	0.017
IAA study 9 (Bur-0) / untreated seedling samples (Bur-0)		0.28	1.21	< 0.001
IAA study 9 (C24) / untreated seedling samples (C24)		0.33	1.26	0.038
MeJa study 2 (1h) / mock treated seedlings (1h)		-0.25	-1.19	0.006
MeJa study 5 (Ler) / untreated leaf disc samples (Ler)		-0.87	-1.83	< 0.001
MeJa study 5 (penta) / untreated leaf disc samples (penta)		-0.65	-1.58	0.010
salicylic acid study 5 (Mt-0) / silwet L77 treated Mt-0 leaf samples (28h)		0.45	1.36	0.035
salicylic acid study 8 (Col-0) / mock treated leaf samples (Col-0)		0.59	1.51	<0.001
zeatin study 2 (Col-0) / solvent treated aerial parts (Col-0)		-0.18	-1.13	0.018

Figure 7. Genevestigator data (https://www.genevestigator.com) for *WRKY20* showing a down-regulation upon MeJA treatment and up-regulation upon SA treatment which corresponds with the results from the present study.

For wild-type Col-0 plants, priming clearly increased resistance to P. syringae DC3000 infection while no priming effect was detected in wrky20, rs2 and rs6 mutants. Raffinose and its precursor galactinol have been shown to be needed to induce JA mediated defense responses (Cho et al., 2010) and previous experiments have shown that priming with *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 triggers an up-regulation of raffinose synthase 2 (rs2) (Johansson et al., unpublished). Therefore, the lack of priming effect in the rs2 and rs6 mutants suggests that B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113-mediated priming induces a JA-dependent resistance. Based on these findings and the hypothesis formed for the role of WRKY20 in plant defense, a simplified model for the increased resistance in plants upon priming with B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113 is proposed (Fig. 8B). According to this model the wrky20 mutants would be expected to show a clear priming effect in the infection study since the raffinose levels are expected to be particularly high in the primed mutants. Quantification of P. syringae DC3000 in the inoculated leaves of the wrky20 mutants indicated a priming effect, but this could not be seen when comparing the plant phenotypes. Both primed and non-primed plants showed systemic disease and stress symptoms but these were less severe compared to the other lines and treatments showing systemic disease symptoms. This might suggest that the P. syringae infection actually was suppressed in the wrky20 mutants and that the observed stress symptoms might be an effect of completely silencing WRKY20 expression. When studying the effects on plant development it was noticed that primed wrky20 mutants had the highest proportion of bolting plants.

Early bolting can be a strategy for stressed plants to spread pass on their genetic material before they perish. As previously stated, raffinose is a part of the JA signaling pathway but has also been reported to have a key role in defense towards oxidative damage (Nishizawa *et al.*, 2008). It is possible that too high raffinose levels triggers high levels of stress responses in the plant leading to high cost and negative effects on plant fitness.



Figure 8. A – Pathogen elicits either SA or JA signaling leading to an up- or down-regulation of *WRKY20*. An up-regulation of *WRKY20* triggers the expression of SA responsive defense genes and a down-regulation of *WRKY20* triggers an up-regulation of raffinose synthases and expression of JA responsive defense genes. B – In primed plants, the basal levels of raffinose and *WRKY20* are higher resulting in a more rapid JA or SA responsive defense response and thereby increasing resistance.

More studies are needed in order to fully resolve the function of *WRKY20* in plant defense and the mechanism involved in ISR through *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 priming. To further pursue the role of *WRKY20* in JA and SA signaling pathway, infection studies involving *wrky20*/JA-marker and *wrky20*/SA-marker double knockouts is proposed. Also, effects on pathogen resistance upon *WRKY20* overexpression in combination with expression analysis of SA and JA marker genes and measures of SA and JA levels might provide significant evidence for the role of *WRKY20* transcription factor.

Priming with *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 up-regulates plant starch production

In plants primed with B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113 AtISA1 expression was induced while no expression was detected in non-primed plants. No difference in expression was detected for AtISA2 and AtISA3 between primed and non-primed plants. AtISA1 has been shown to be involved in starch synthesis through involvement in the synthesis of amylopectin, and AtISA3 is involved in starch degradation (Delatte et al., 2005; Wattebled et al., 2005). AtISA2 lacks the necessary amino acid residues for catalytic debranching activity, but probably functions as a regulator or stabilizer in complex with both AtISA1 (Delatte et al., 2005) and AtISA3 (Li et al., 2007). AtISA1 was expressed in all primed samples while expression could only be detected in one of the control samples. Seedlings were collected for staining early in the day and the lack of expression of AtISA1 together with expression of AtISA3 in the nonprimed plants indicates that the plants were still respiring after the night. Priming with B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113 did not affect the expression of AtISA2 and AtISA3 but induced expression of AtISA1 in all samples. B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113 priming probably speeds up the starch synthesis after respiration. However, starch degradation did not seem to be affected leading to simultaneous expression of AtISA1 and AtISA3. To further investigate the effects of B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113-mediated priming on starch metabolism it would be interesting to repeat the experiment, but collect samples during night to ensure that priming does not trigger a constant activation of AtISA1 expression. Also, the study should be complemented with a starch content analysis of primed and nonprimed plants. The results of this study indicate that plant primed with B. amyloliquefaciens strain 5113 probably produces more starch compared to non-primed, but the simultaneous expression of AtISA1 and AtISA3 requires further studies.

Concluding remarks

This study has presented evidence for an increased resistance to *P. syringae pv. tomato* DC3000 in Arabidopsis Col-0 primed with *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113. In addition, *WRKY20* transcription factor and raffinose have been shown to play a key role in the induced systemic resistance (ISR) in primed plants.

Evidence was also provided that plants primed with *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 have an increased starch production which might be one of the factors in the promotion of plant growth observed in primed plants.

Lastly, this study confirmed *B. amyloliquefaciens* strain 5113 as a promising candidate to be used for biological control. Increased knowledge of the effects of and molecular processes underlying beneficial bacteria-mediated priming is essential in order to be able to develop a product for practical application in agriculture.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors Sarosh Bejai and Johan Meijer as well as the rest of the research group for invaluable support throughout the project. Also, I would like to thank Gunilla Swärdh for teaching me the sterilization procedure of Arabidopsis seeds.

References

- Bejai, S., Danielsson, J. & Meijer, J. (2009). Transcript profiling of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*) primed for biocontrol differentiate genes involved in microbial interactions with beneficial *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* from pathogenic *Botrytis cinerea*. *Plant Molecular Biology* 70(1), 31–45.
- Cheong, Y. H., Chang, H.-S., Gupta, R., Wang, X., Zhu, T. & Luan, S. (2002). Transcriptional Profiling Reveals Novel Interactions Between Wounding, Pathogen, Abiotic Stress, and Hormonal Responses in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 129(2), 661–677.
- Cho, S. M., Kang, E. Y., Kim, M. S., Yoo, S. J., Im, Y. J., Kim, Y. C., Yang, K. Y., Kim, K. Y., Kim, K. S., Choi, Y. S. & Cho, B. H. (2010). Jasmonate-dependent expression of a galactinol synthase gene is involved in priming of systemic fungal resistance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Botany* 88(5), 452–461.
- Danielsson, J., Reva, O. & Meijer, J. (2007). Protection of Oilseed Rape (*Brassica napus*) Toward Fungal Pathogens by Strains of Plant-associated *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens*. *Microbial Ecology* 54(1), 134–140.
- Delatte, T., Trevisan, M., Parker, M. L. & Zeeman, S. C. (2005). Arabidopsis mutants Atisa1 and Atisa2 have identical phenotypes and lack the same multimeric isoamylase, which influences the branch point distribution of amylopectin during starch synthesis. *The Plant Journal* 41(6), 815–830.
- Demianski, A. J., Chung, K. M. & Kunkel, B. N. (2011). Analysis of Arabidopsis JAZ gene expression during Pseudomonas syringae pathogenesis. *Molecular Plant Pathology* 13(1), 46–57.
- Dong, J., Chen, C. & Chen, Z. (2003). Expression profiles of the Arabidopsis WRKY gene superfamily during plant defense response. Plant Molecular Biology 51(1), 21–37.
- Dong, X. (1998). SA, JA, ethylene, and disease resistance in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 1(4), 316-323.
- Eulgem, T., Rushton, P. J., Robatzek, S. & Somssich, I. E. (2000). The WRKY superfamily of plant transcription factors. *Trends in Plant Science* 5(5), 199–206.
- Feys, B. J. & Parker, J. E. (2000). Interplay of signaling pathways in plant disease resistance. *Trends in Genetics* 16(10), 449–455.
- Guo, Y., Cai, Z. & Gan, S. (2004). Transcriptome of Arabidopsis leaf senescence. Plant, Cell & Environment 27(5), 521-549.
- Hammond-Kosack, K. E. & Parker, J. E. (2003). Deciphering plant–pathogen communication: fresh perspectives for molecular resistance breeding. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 14(2), 177–193.
- Hruz, T., Laule, O., Szabo, G., Wessendorp, F., Bleuler, S., Oertle, L., Widmayer, P., Gruissem, W. & Zimmermann, P. (2008). Genevestigator V3: A Reference Expression Database for the Meta-Analysis of Transcriptomes. *Advances in Bioinformatics* 2008, 1–5.
- Johansson, A., Fridborg, I., Lagensjö, J., Leelarasamee, N., Sun, C., Jansson, C., Meijer, J and Bejai, S. (Unpublished). WRKY20 transcription factor in resource allocation upon herbivory in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Manuscript*.
- Katagiri, F., Thilmony, R. & He, S. Y. (2002). The Arabidopsis Thaliana-Pseudomonas Syringae Interaction. *The Arabidopsis Book / American Society of Plant Biologists* 1.
- Kloepper, J. W., Ryu, C.-M. & Zhang, S. (2004). Induced Systemic Resistance and Promotion of Plant Growth by Bacillus spp. *Phytopathology* 94(11), 1259–1266.
- Li, L., Ilarslan, H., James, M. G., Myers, A. M. & Wurtele, E. S. (2007). Genome Wide Co-Expression Among the Starch Debranching Enzyme Genes AtISA1, AtISA2, and AtISA3 in Arabidopsis Thaliana. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58(12), 3323–3342.
- Livak, K. J. & Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the 2-ΔΔCT Method. *Methods* 25(4), 402–408.
- Murashige, T. & Skoog, F. (2006). A Revised Medium for Rapid Growth and Bio Assays with Tobacco Tissue Cultures. *Physiologia Plantarum* 15(3), 473–497.
- Nishizawa, A., Yabuta, Y. & Shigeoka, S. (2008). Galactinol and Raffinose Constitute a Novel Function to Protect Plants from Oxidative Damage. *Plant Physiology* 147(3), 1251–1263.
- Pieterse, C. M. J., Wees, S. C. M., Ton, J., Pelt, J. A. & Loon, L. C. (2008). Signalling in Rhizobacteria-Induced Systemic Resistance in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Biology* 4(5), 535–544.

- Proietti, S., Bertini, L., Van Der Ent, S., Leon-Reyes, A., Pieterse, C. M. J., Tucci, M., Caporale, C. & Caruso, C. (2011). Cross Activity of Orthologous WRKY Transcription Factors in Wheat and Arabidopsis. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 62(6), 1975–1990.
- Quirino, B. F. & Bent, A. F. (2003). Deciphering host resistance and pathogen virulence: the Arabidopsis/Pseudomonas interaction as a model. *Molecular Plant Pathology* 4(6), 517–530.
- Reva, O. N., Dixelius, C., Meijer, J. & Priest, F. G. (2004). Taxonomic characterization and plant colonizing abilities of some bacteria related to *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* and *Bacillus subtilis*. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 48(2), 249–259.
- Schisler, D. A., Slininger, P. J., Behle, R. W. & Jackson, M. A. (2004). Formulation of Bacillus spp. for Biological Control of Plant Diseases. *Phytopathology* 94(11), 1267–1271.
- Schmittgen, T. D. & Livak, K. J. (2008). Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative CT method. *Nature Protocols* 3(6), 1101–1108.
- Ton, J., Van Pelt, J. A., Van Loon, L. C. & Pieterse, C. M. J. (2002). Differential Effectiveness of Salicylate-Dependent and Jasmonate/Ethylene-Dependent Induced Resistance in 34.
- van Loon, L. C., Bakker, P. A. H. M. & Pieterse, C. M. J. (1998). SYSTEMIC RESISTANCE INDUCED BY RHIZOSPHERE BACTERIA. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 36(1), 453–483.
- Wattebled, F., Dong, Y., Dumez, S., Delvallé, D., Planchot, V., Berbezy, P., Vyas, D., Colonna, P., Chatterjee, M., Ball, S. & D'Hulst, C. (2005). Mutants of Arabidopsis Lacking a Chloroplastic Isoamylase Accumulate Phytoglycogen and an Abnormal Form of Amylopectin. *Plant Physiology* 138(1), 184–195.
- Zamioudis, C. & Pieterse, C. M. J. (2012). Modulation of Host Immunity by Beneficial Microbes. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 25(2), 139–150.
- Zeeman, S. C., Kossmann, J. & Smith, A. M. (2010). Starch: Its Metabolism, Evolution, and Biotechnological Modification in Plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology 61(1), 209–234.
- Zhang, Y. & Wang, L. (2005). The WRKY transcription factor superfamily: its origin in eukaryotes and expansion in plants. BMC Evolutionary Biology 5(1), 1.